IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 75,793

MARK KEPNER,

Petitioner,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON MERITS

BENNETT H. BRUMMER Public Defender Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Florida 1351 N.W. 12th Street Miami, Florida 33125 (305) 545-3010 ROBERT KALTER Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 260711

Counsel for Petitioner

INTRODUCTION

The petitioner, Mark Kepner, was the appellee in the Third District Court of Appeal and the defendant in the trial court. The respondent, the State of Florida, was the appellant in the Third District Court of Appeal and the plaintiff, in the trial court. The symbol "R" will be used to refer to the portions of the record on appeal. All emphasis is supplied unless otherwise indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Between March 21, 1989 and March 25, 1989, petitioner committed several robberies, burglaries and grand theft. During these crimes, Petitioner possessed a firearm. The State of Florida filed six (6) separate informations in case nos. 89-12099, (R1-2a), 89-12377 (R. 14-15a), 89-12378 (R. 21-2a), 89-12380 (R. 27-30a), 89-89-12717 (R. 37-341a), 89-13525 (R. 48-49a).

On September 19, 1989, petitioner entered guilty pleas as to all the counts in all the informations. The trial court consolidated all the cases for sentencing and since petitioner was between 18-21 and petitioner had never previously been sentenced as a youthful offender the court sentenced petitioner as a youthful offender. The court sentenced petitioner to the maximum youthful offender sentence of four years (4) incarceration followed by two years community control. Since the court concluded that petitioner had a severe drug problem, the court ordered that petitioner attend a drug treatment program while on community control. The sentence received by defendant was less than the recommended guideline sentence. (R. 4-7, 9-10, 16-19, 22-25, 31-34, 42-46a, 50-53).

Pursuant to this court's decision in <u>State v. Diers</u>, 532 So.2d 1271 (Fla. 1988) the court did not prepare a separate written order listing reasons for the downward departure sentence. The court did sign a written order classifying petitioner as a youthful offender. (R. 4-7, 16-19, 22-25, 31-34, 42-46a, 50-53).

The State of Florida filed a notice of appeal. On appeal, the only issue raised by the state was that petitioner's sentence was

illegal since the trial court did not give written reasons for the downward departure sentence. The state did not argue that the trial court wrongfully classified petitioner as a youthful offender.

The Third District Court of Appeal ruled that the 1987 amendment to the Youthful Offender Statute which gave the state the right to appeal a departure sentence under the Youthful Offender Act by implication also added the requirement that the trial judge give written reasons for a downward departure sentence when a defendant is sentenced as a youthful offender.

The Third District Court of Appeal recognized that their opinion was in direct conflict with the second district's case of <u>State v. Green</u>, 541 So.2d 789 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984); and <u>State v.</u> <u>Nealy</u>, 532 So.2d 1117 (Fla. 784 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989) which both held that written reasons are not required for downward departure sentences if the defendant is sentenced as a youthful offender.

On July 19, 1990, this Court ordered petitioner to file a brief on the merits.

QUESTION PRESENTED

WHETHER WRITTEN REASONS ARE REQUIRED FOR A DOWNWARD DEPARTURE SENTENCE WHEN A DEFENDANT IS SENTENCED AS A YOUTHFUL OFFENDER.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The most recent amendment to the Youthful Offender Statute specifically states that written reasons are required if a youthful offender sentence results in a more severe sentence than the recommended guideline sentence. The amendment does not require written reasons for a downward departure sentence.

This Court in <u>State v. Diers</u>, <u>supra</u>, has held that prior to the 1987 amendment, written reasons were not required for downward departure sentences pursuant to the Youthful Offender Act. The court reached this conclusion based upon the rules of statutory construction and an analysis of the purpose of the Youthful Offender Statute.

Nothing in the 1987 amendment to the Youthful Offender Statute effects the rational relied upon by this Court to conclude that written reasons are not required for downward departure sentences pursuant to the Youthful Offender Act. The 1987 amendment amended the youthful offender to give the state the right to appeal a youthful offender departure sentence. The legislature did not change the portion of the statute that specifically requires written reasons for upward departure sentences. The new amendment similar to the old statute does not mention that written reasons are required for downward departure sentences. If the legislature had intended to require written reasons for youthful offender sentences that result in downward departure sentence, the legislature would have included this language in the amendment.

Since the 1987 amendment does nothing to change the rational behind this Court's opinion in <u>State v. Diers</u>, <u>supra</u>, this Court should affirm the trial court's decision that written reasons are not required if a trial court sentences a defendant as a youthful offender and that sentence is less than the recommended guideline sentence.

ARGUMENT

WHETHER WRITTEN REASONS ARE REQUIRED FOR A DOWNWARD DEPARTURE SENTENCE WHEN A DEFENDANT IS SENTENCED AS A YOUTHFUL OFFENDER.

The only issue this Court must resolve in this appeal is whether a trial court who sentences a defendant as a youthful offender pursuant to Florida Statute 958.04 must give written reasons to justify a departure sentence if the youthful offender sentence is less than the recommended guidelines sentence. The Third District Court of Appeal in this case has concluded that since the legislature amended Florida Statute 958.04(3) to give the state the right to appeal a departure sentence, by implication the legislature has amended the statute to also require written reasons for a downward departure sentence.

The Second District Court of Appeal in <u>State v. Nealy</u>, 532 So.2d 1117 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988) and the Fourth District Court of Appeal in <u>State v. Green</u>, 541 So.2d 789 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989) have both concluded that since Florida Statute 958.04(3) specifically states that written reasons are necessary for an upward departure and does not state that written reasons are necessary for a downward departure the rules of statutory construction require the conclusion that written reasons are not necessary for a downward departure sentence if the court sentences a defendant as a youthful offender.

This Court in <u>State v. Diers</u>, 532 So.2d 1271 (Fla. 1988) was asked to decide the exact same question that is presented in this appeal. However, in <u>State v. Diers</u>, <u>supra</u> this Court was asked to

interpret the 1985 amendment to Florida Statute 958.04. Since this Court's decision in <u>Diers</u> the Florida legislature has once again amended Florida Statute 958.04. Therefore, the issue that must be resolved by this Court now is whether the 1988 amendment to Florida Statute 958.04 changes this Court's conclusion in <u>State v. Diers</u>, <u>supra</u>, that written reasons are not required for youthful offender sentences that are less than the recommended guideline sentence.

A comparison of the 1985 amendment with the 1988 amendment will establish that the exact same rationale that led this Court to the conclusion that written reasons are not required for Youthful Offender sentences resulting in downward departures exist even after the 1988 amendment to the Youthful Offender Act.

In 1985 the legislature amended the Youthful Offender Act to include the following concerning the effect of the sentencing guidelines on the Youthful Offender Act.

> The provisions of this section shall not be used to impose a greater sentence than the maximum recommended range as established by statewide sentencing guidelines pursuant to § 921.001 unless clear and convincing reasons are explained in writing by the trial court judge. A sentence imposed outside of such guidelines shall be subject to appeal by the defendant pursuant to § 924.06.

Relying on both rules of statutory construction and the rational of the Youthful Offender Act this Court concluded that written reasons were not required to justify a downward departure sentence if the defendant was sentenced as a youthful offender.

Initially, this Court relied on rules of statutory construction to support its decision in <u>Diers</u>. The Youthful

Offender Statute specifically states that "the provisions of this section shall not be used to impose a greater sentence than the maximum recommended range as established by statewide guidelines pursuant to § 921.001 unless clear and convincing reasons are explained in writing". The statute did not prohibit downward departures pursuant to the Youthful Offender Statute and more importantly the statute did not state that written reasons were required for a downward departure.

In <u>Diers v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, the rule of statutory construction relied upon by the court were <u>expressio</u> <u>unius</u> <u>est</u> <u>exclusion</u> <u>alterius</u> which means that when a piece of legislation specifically mentions something and specifically does not mention the opposite, the legislation only means to include what is mentioned. In <u>Diers</u>, <u>supra</u>, the court concluded that "by mentioning only a defense appeal, the legislature wished to exclude one by the prosecution to which it did not refer. The exact same logic is applicable to written reasons for a downward departure. When the legislature specifically stated that written reasons were required for an upward departure sentence and made no similar requirement for a downward departure than the legislature must not have intended written reasons for a downward departure.

In reaching the conclusion that written reasons were not required for youthful offender sentences that are less than the guidelines, this Court also recognized the following:

We believe, in sum, that section 958.04(3) represents a conscious decision by the legislature that an appropriate employment of the Y.O.A. pursuant to the statutory

requirements as to the particular defendant, see *Ellis v. State*, 475 So.2d 1021 (Fla.App. 1985), itself constitutes a proper basis for a more lenient, but not necessarily for a harsher, sentence than under the guidelines.

It is petitioner's position that the 1987 amendment to the Youthful Offender Statute did not change any of the rationale behind this Court's decision in <u>State v. Diers</u>, <u>supra</u>.

In 1987 the legislature amended Florida Statute 958.04(3) as follows:

The provisions of this section shall not be used to impose a greater sentence than the maximum recommended range as established by statewide sentencing guidelines pursuant to s. 921.001 unless reasons are explained in writing by the trial court judge which reasonably justify departure. A sentence imposed outside of such guidelines shall be subject to appeal pursuant to s. 924.07.

The only change made by the 1987 amendment was the legislature eliminated the language that only a defendant could appeal a departure sentence. An analysis of the statute establishes that the statute still only states that "this section shall not be used to impose a greater sentence than the maximum recommended range as established by statewide sentencing guidelines pursuant to s. 921.001 unless reasons are explained in writing by the trial court judge which reasonably justify departures.

Therefore, similar to the 1985 amendment the 1987 amendment specifically discusses the fact that the Youthful Offender Statute shall not be used to impose sentences greater than the recommended guideline sentence and if the court does use the Youthful Offender

Statute to impose an upward departure, the reasons must be placed in writing.

Also, similar to the 1985 amendment, the 1987 amendment makes no mention of the fact that a youthful offender sentence should not result in a downward departure. Furthermore, the statute does not require written reasons for a downward departure. Therefore, the same rules of statutory construction that lead this Court to conclude that the state had no right to appeal pursuant to the 1985 amendment applies to the 1987 amendment and whether written reasons for downward departures are required. If the legislature had intended to require written reasons for a downward departure the statute would have specifically stated that reasons are required for <u>all</u> departure sentences pursuant to the Youthful Offender Act or written reasons are required for both upward and downward departure sentences. Instead, the statute specifically limited the requirement for written reasons only for upward departures.

The Second District Court of Appeal in <u>State v. Nealy</u>, <u>supra</u>, recognized that the amended statute did not change this Court's conclusion that no written reasons are required for a downward departure when the court held the following:

> The right of appeal by the state was added by the legislature last year. That amendment of section 958.04(3) was the only material change the legislature made to the statute. It did not alter the original wording, which only requires written reasons to be submitted by the trial court when it departs upward from the recommended guidelines range.

> As stated in *State v. Diers*, 517 So.2d 788, 789 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988). The Y.O.A. is more than the guidelines scheme and directs that the

penalties are to be imposed "[i]n lieu of other criminal penalties authorized by law." § 958.04(2), Fla.Stat. (1985). Second, the legislative amendment to the Y.O.A. specifically provides for a defendant's appeal from an upward departure from the guidelines but is silent on both downward departures and the state's right to appeal.

Though the latest legislative amendment of section 958.04(3) has added the right of the state to appeal, it remains silent as to downward departure.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal in <u>State v. Green</u>, <u>supra</u>, also concluded that the 1987 amendment to the Youthful Offender Statute did not change the court's decision in <u>Diers</u>, <u>supra</u>, when the court stated the following:

In Diers, the court found that the "explicit" restriction imposed by the statute with respect to guideline increases, which, "read together with the just-as-pointed omission of a reverse prohibition of a downward departure," was a basis for concluding that the legislature did not intend to require that written clear and convincing reasons be given for a downward departure in a youthful offender sentence. Id. at 1272.

(emphasis in original)

We recognize that the reasoning in *Diers* was in part based on the language in the 1985 statute, omitted in the 1987 amendment, restricting the right of appeal under the Act to defendants. However, notwithstanding the modification permitting appeals by the state, we conclude that clear and convincing reasons for the downward departure are not required where a youthful offender sentence is below the recommended guideline sentence. *See State v. Diers; State v. Nealy*, 532 So.2d 1117 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988). The defendant's sentence is therefore affirmed.

The Third District Court of Appeal rejected the opinions of the Second District Court of Appeal and the Fourth District Court of Appeal and concluded that once the legislature amended the youthful offender statute to give the state the right to appeal departure sentences the legislature by implication also amended the statute to require written reasons for downward departure sentences.

In reaching this conclusion, the Third District Court of Appeal failed to even discuss the fact that the statute specifically requires written reasons for upward departures and has no similar requirement for downward departures. The Third District based its decision solely on the theory that if the legislature intended to give the state the right to appeal departure sentence then obviously written reasons must be required for downward departures since that would be the only issue the state would want to appeal.

Initially, it is petitioner's position that the Third District has read into the statute something that is clearly not in the statute. The statute does not require written reasons intended for downward departures. If the legislature intended the 1987 amendment to have this effect they would have changed the statute to reflect this desire. Furthermore, the Third District's position that giving the state the right to appeal departure sentences pursuant to the Youthful Offender Statute would be meaningless if the trial judge was not required to give written reasons for a downward departure is without merit.

This Court has recognized in <u>Diers</u>, <u>supra</u>, that being a youthful offender is in itself a valid reason to receive lenient treatment. Therefore, when the court signs a Youthful Offender order he has in essence given his reason for the downward departure. Under the 1985 amendment the state may have been prohibited from appealing

a trial judge's determination that a defendant was a youthful offender. In order to be correctly classified as a youthful offender, the court must find the following:

1) The defendant was between the age of 18-21 at the time of the commission of the offense.

2) The defendant has never been previously classified as a youthful offender.

3) The defendant was not found guilty of a capital or life felony.

Therefore, the legislature may have amended Florida Statute 958.04(3) to allow the state to appeal a trial judge's decision to classify a defendant as a youthful offender.

The most compelling argument to justify the conclusion that the youthful offender statute only requires written reasons for upward departure sentence is an analysis of the purpose of the youthful offender statute. The legislature passed the youthful offender statute for the sole purpose of giving trial court's the opportunity to treat youthful offenders more leniently than adult offenders. The legislature recognized that in certain situations a youthful offender sentence may be more serious than the recommended guideline sentence. In order to prohibit a trial judge from using the Youthful Offender Statute to punish a youthful offender more severely than an adult offender, the legislature amended the youthful offender act to include the following language:

> The provisions of this section shall not be used to impose a greater sentence than the maximum recommended range as established by statewide sentencing guidelines pursuant to S. 921.001 unless reasons are explained in writing by the trial court judge which reasonably justify departure.

Since the legislature intended the youthful offender act to serve as an alternative to the guidelines if it would benefit the young offender, the legislature did not deem it necessary to state that a trial could not deviate downward from the guidelines without giving written reasons for the departure. The reason no written reason is required is because the classification of a youthful offender <u>is</u> a valid reason to give a young offender a more lenient sentence than the recommended guideline sentence.

The Third District Court of Appeal concluded in its opinion that the 1987 amendment reinstated the old rule that the legislature did not intend for statutory sentencing alternatives to replace the guidelines. However, an analysis of legislation after the 1987 amendment reveals that the legislature did not intend to create a rule that statutory sentencing alternatives can not displace the guidelines.

In 1988, the Florida Legislature amended the sentencing guidelines to include a provision that an habitual offender sentence is not a guideline sentence and therefore, no written reasons are necessary for a departure sentence if a defendant is sentenced as an habitual offender. Therefore, contrary to the Third District's opinion, the Florida Legislature has continued to recognize that certain statutory sentencing alternatives have replaced the guidelines.

The exact same rationale that supports the conclusion that no written reasons are necessary for an upward departure sentence for a habitual offender sentence exists to support the rational that

no written reasons are required for a downward departure pursuant to the Youthful Offender Act.

By passing the habitual offender statute the legislature has recognized that if an individual meets the requirement of that statute, a trial judge is entitle to treat him more harshly than a defendant who has committed a similar crime. By definition, when a trial court finds a defendant to be an habitual offender there is a valid reason to treat him more severely than a normal defendant. For this reason the legislature concluded that it was not necessary for an upward departure sentence if the defendant is determined to be an habitual offender. The reason written reasons are required for departure sentences is so that an appellate court can be apprised of the reasons for the departure and can assure itself that the reason for departure is supported by the record.

Since a trial court must conduct a hearing before declaring a defendant an habitual offender and he must make specific findings of facts to support this conclusion, the legislature concluded that there would be no purpose served in requiring a trial judge to give written reasons to support his decision to deviate from the guidelines pursuant to the habitual offender statute.

The exact same rational applies to a downward departure sentence pursuant to the Youthful Offender Act. When a trial judge chooses to impose a youthful offender sentence, the court has decided to treat the youthful offender more leniently. The mere imposition of a youthful offender sentence is a valid reason to treat a defendant less severe than an adult. Therefore, there would be no purpose

served by requiring the trial judge to put in writing his reasons for the downward departure, since the imposition of the youthful offender sentence is the reason why the court gave the lesser sentence. It is for this reason that the legislature specifically required written reasons for upward departure youthful offender sentence and did not require written reasons for the downward departure youthful offender sentence.

Since the trial court correctly determined that petitioner was a youthful offender this Court should affirm defendant's youthful offender sentence.

CONCLUSION

BASED upon the foregoing this Honorable Court is respectfully requested to reverse the judgment of Third District Court of Appeal.