IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 75,793

SEP 1990 CHER. Deputy Clerk

MARK KEPNER,

Petitioner,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON APPLICATION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

MONIQUE T. BEFELER Florida Bar No. 0504157 Assistant Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs 401 N.W. Second Avenue, Suite N921 Miami, Florida 33128 (305) 377-5441

INTRODUCTION

In this Brief, the Petitioner MARK KEPNER will be referred to as the Defendant or the Petitioner. The Respondent THE STATE OF FLORIDA will be referred to as the State or the Respondent.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Between April 24, 1989 and May 1, 1989, the Defendant was charged with six separate informations for a spree of crimes committed over a period of five days, which crimes ranged from armed burglary of an occupied conveyance to armed robbery to grand theft and unlawful possession of a firearm.

The Defendant was adjudicated guilty after having entered a plea of guilty to all charges (R.4-5).

On September 19, 1989 a sentencing hearing was held (T.1-23). The sentencing guidelines scoresheet scored the Defendant at "267", indicating a guideline sentence range of 12 to 17 years (R.46-46A). The State requested the maximum sentence of 17 years.

Over the State's objection, the trial court sentenced the Defendant under the Youthful Offender Act to a term of six years, with no credit for time served (R. 6,7,9). The six years were to be served by four years of jail time and two years of community control (R.6,7.9). As a special condition of probation, the Defendant was to serve the first portion of community control in the Dade County Stockade Drug program, and he would further not be permitted to participate in the Boot Camp program (R.10). No written reasons were offered for the downward departure.

The State appealed the sentence, claiming that the trial court erred in imposing a downward departure sentence under the Youthful Offender Statute without providing contemporaneous written reasons (R.55). The Third District Court of Appeals agreed with the State, concluding that the effect of the 1987 amendment allowing state appeals also had the "concomitant effect of requiring a lawful basis for a downward departure sentence in the form of written reasons" (R.57-62). In reversing the sentence, the Third District Court of Appeal certified its opinion to be in direct conflict with <u>State v. Nealy</u>, 532 So.2d 1117 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988) and <u>State v.</u> Green, 541 So.2d 789 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989).

On March 28, 1990, the Defendant timely filed his Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction. On July 19, 1990, this Court accepted jurisdiction.

QUESTION PRESENTED

,

WHETHER WRITTEN REASONS MUST BE PROVIDED WHEN IMPOSING A DOWNWARD DEPARTURE SENTENCE UNDER THE YOUTHFUL OFFENDER STATUTE.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The 1987 amendment to the Youthful Offender Act gave the state the right to appeal downward departure sentences imposed thereunder. In giving the state this right, the legislature implicitly required the trial court to explain its reasons for a downward departure in writing, in accordance with the guidelines requirement. Failure to require written reasons gives the state nothing more than an "empty right" to appeal Youthful Offender sentences.

ARGUMENT

WRITTEN REASONS MUST BE PROVIDED WHEN IMPOSING A DOWNWARD DEPARTURE SENTENCE UNDER THE YOUTHFUL OFFENDER STATUTE.

In its opinion, the Third District Court of Appeal correctly analyzed the evolution of the interrelationship between the sentencing guidelines and the Youthful Offender Act, including the impact of the latest amendment to the Youthful Offender Act.

Prior to July 1, 1984, all statutory sentencing alternatives, including the Youthful Offender Act, were deemed to supersede the guidelines. See Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.701(d)11 Committee Note (1983). As of July 1, 1984, the aforementioned Committee Note was stricken¹, and the opposite rule came into effect. <u>The Florida Bar: Amendment</u> to Rules of Criminal Procedure (3.701, 3.988 - Sentencing <u>Guidelines</u>), 451 So.2d 824 (Fla. 1984). In an explanation of the change, this Court stated:

"The Committee Note to 3.701(d)(11), which discusses statutory alternatives, has ben completely eliminated. While these statutory alternatives are acknowledged, the sentencing court is required to explain the guideline departure when an alternative program is used."

¹ The deleted committee note read as follows:

"Sentences under provisions of the Youthful Offender Act (ch. 958), the Mentally Disordered Sex Offender Act (ch. 917), or which require participation in drug rehabilitation programs (sec. 397.12) need not conform to the guidelines." Id at 824, n.12. This Court made no exception for downward departure sentences to the above requirement that departure sentences must be explained by the trial court.

In other words, a sentence imposed under the Youthful Offender Act no longer superseded the sentencing guidelines, and, in fact, the trial court was no longer exempt from the requirement of entering written reasons for its downward departure merely because the sentence imposed was pursuant to the Youthful Offender Act. State v. Evans, 503 So.2d 985 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987).

In 1985, the Florida legislature amended the Youthful Offender Act in Section 958.04(3) by explicitly prohibiting guideline increases without adherence to the clear and convincing requirements of the sentencing guidelines. Moreover, the amendment allowed a defendant the right to appeal any Youthful Offender Act sentence imposed outside of such guidelines.

This Court analyzed the impact of the aforesaid 1985 amendment in <u>State v. Diers</u>, 532 So.2d 1271 (Fla. 1988). The Supreme Court, in dismissing the State's appeal of a downward departure sentence, held:

We believe, in sum, that section 958.04(3) represents a conscious decision by the legislature that an appropriate employment of the Y.O.A. pursuant to the statutory requirements as to the particular defendant, see <u>Ellis v. State</u>, 475 So.2d 1021 (Fla. App. 1985), itself constitutes a proper basis for a more lenient, but not necessarily for a

harsher, sentence than under the guidelines. Since, as a part of this scheme, the statute does not provide for appellate review of downward departures and since the state's right to appeal from final orders like this is entirely statutory, <u>State v. Creighton</u>,469 So.2d 735 (Fla. 1985), the appeal is dismissed.

Diers, supra at 1272.

Subsequent thereto, in 1987, the amended statute which had been interpreted by the Supreme Court in <u>Diers</u> was once again amended. Specifically, section 958.04, Florida Statutes (1985) was amended to read as follows:

958.04 Judicial disposition of youthful offenders.

(3) The provisions of this section shall not be used to impose a greater sentence than the maximum recommended range as established by statewide sentencing guidelines pursuant to s. 921.001 unless reasons are explained in writing by the trial court judge which reasonably justify departure. <u>A sentence</u> imposed outside of such guidelines shall be subject to appeal pursuant to s. 924.06 or s. 924.07.

Ch. 87-110, s. 3, 4, Laws of Fla. The last sentence, which previously allowed only defense appeals on youthful offender sentences, was modified to exclude the limiting language "by the defendant." Thus, under the 1987 amendment, the state was allowed to seek appellate review of a sentence that represented a departure downward from the sentencing guidelines, even if that sentence was imposed under the Youthful Offender Act. <u>State v. McLeod</u>, 524 So.2d 702 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988); <u>State v. Nealy</u>, 532 So.2d 1117 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988). Therefore, the latest legislative amendment of section

958.04(3) in effect overruled this Court's opinion in Diers.

Nevertheless, while the amendment added the right of the state to appeal downward departure sentences, it remained silent as to whether the trial court was required to state written reasons for a downward departure sentence under the Youthful Offender Act. The only language in the present statute on this issue requires that in the event of imposition of a <u>greater</u> sentence than the maximum recommended range as established by the sentencing guidelines, reasons which reasonably justify departure must be explained in writing bythe trial court judge. It does not specifically refer to <u>lesser</u> sentences.

The only three district court cases which have interpreted the 1987 amendment and expressed an opinion on the issue currently before this Court, have been the Fourth District in the <u>Green</u>² case, the Second District in the <u>Nealy</u>³ case and the Third District Court in this case. <u>Green</u> and <u>Nealy</u> have held that written reasons are not required where a youthful offender sentence is below the recommended guidelines sentence. However, both of these cases appear to base their finding on the simple fact that the statute does not specifically provide for written reasons on departure sentence. In so doing, these cases misapprehend the impact of the

² State v. Green, 541 So.2d 789 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989).
³ State v. Nealy, 532 So.2d 1117 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988).

amendment.

Judge Parker, however, did not misapprehend the impact of the amendment, and he discussed the fallacy of the majority's opinion in his concurring opinion in <u>Nealy</u>. Judge Parker's concern was that if the trial court were not required to set forth its reasons for departure in writing, then the state (by virtue of the amendment) had been given an "empty right to appeal":

> "I disagree with the majority that the silence of the statute concerning downward departures removes the necessity of written reasons to justify such departures. While the majority opinion acknowledges this right of appeal by the state, it does not explain what it is that the state may appeal. It seems illogical that the legislature would amend the statute to afford the state the right to appeal a sentence below the guidelines, but at the same time not require some justification by the trial court for the departure. Indeed, why afford the state such an empty right of appeal?"

<u>Nealy</u>, 532 So.2d at 1119.

In the instant case, the Third District Court of Appeals picked up on Judge Parker's reasoning and reiterated the critical fallacy made in the Petitioner's argument:

> "..if written reasons are not necessary to justify a departure, as they are in every other case, merely because the sentence is imposed under the Y.O.A., the right now conferred by the 1987 amendment to 958.04(3) would be an entirely illusory and futile one. In the absence of such a requirement, there

would be simply no basis for any such appeal; no argument which could be asserted by the state for reversal; and no possible outcome but summary affirmance. An appeal, in other words, which has no chance to succeed is no appeal at all, and a holding to this effect, which is precisely the one sought by the defendant, would run directly counter to the principle basic most of statutory interpretation that the legislature is deemed intend that each of its enactments, to particularly an amendatory one, serves a useful and viable purpose [citations omitted]. Applying this principle, we conclude that giving the state the right to appeal in itself means that it has the right to review a Y.O.A.-downward departure on a meaningful basis. That can only involve the requirement that the sentence be based upon legally satisfactory written reasons."

This argument is further bolstered by a full reading of section 958.04(3). The 1987 amendment to section 958.04(3) added a reference to an appeal pursuant to section 924.07. Section 924.07, Fla.Stat. (1989) reads, in part, that a state may appeal from "a sentence imposed outside the range recommended by the guidelines authorized by s. 921.001." Section 921.001, Fla. Stat. (1989), in turn, requires that "any sentence imposed outside the range recommended by the guidelines be explained in writing by the trial court judge." Therefore, reading section 958.04(3) in pari materia with the other cross referenced sections of the sentencing guidelines clearly requires written reasons for any time of departure, including downward departure.

Such a requirement is also consistent with the generally stated policy behind the sentencing guidelines of establishing a

uniform sentencing scheme.

The only other case relative to the issue before this Court is <u>Wiedeman v. State</u>, 506 So.2d 1079 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987), which the Respondent asserts is persuasive. In <u>Wiedeman</u>, the Fifth District vacated a trial court's downward departure sentence under the Youthful Offender Act because written reasons were not provided by the trial court as required by Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.701(d)(11) for a departure sentence. Though <u>Wiedeman</u> was decided prior the 1987 amendment, the amendment does not affect the result or reasoning of Wiedeman. Nealy, 532 So.,2d at 1120, n.4.

In summation, it is the Respondent's contention that in light of the fact that the Petitioner in this case was sentenced to six (6) years instead of the guideline range of twelve (12) to seventeen (17) years, the trial court was under an affirmative duty to state its contemporaneous written reasons for departure. By failing to do so, it deprived the state from taking an effective appeal, as provided by the Youthful Offender statute. Therefore, the Third District Court of Appeals decision should be affirmed in all respects, and this matter should be remanded for the entry of written reasons or for resentencing within the guidelines.

CONCLUSION

Wherefore, based on the foregoing reasons and authorities cited herein, the Respondent respectfully requests that this Court affirm the Third District Court of Appeal's opinion.